1966

State of Utah v. James Coleman : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is a criminal action instituted in the Seventh Judicial District in and for San Juan County, against the defendant, James Coleman, alleging the commission of the crime of, "issuing a check against insufficient funds" in violation of Section 76-20-11, U.C.A. (1953), (R. 1, 5).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The jury returned a verdict of guilty (R. 11). The trial court denied a motion by defendant for a new trial (R. 25).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the Judgment on the verdict of the jury and a new trial.

Since both volumes are separately numbered, references to the Reporter's Transcript of testimony will be identified by R. Tr., and all other references to the record will be designated R.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State charged that the defendant, on about the 3rd day of March, 1964, with intent to defraud Richard Perkins, made and delivered a check in the sum of \$4,640.00, payable to the order of Richard Perkins and drawn upon the Fruita State Bank, Fruita, Colorado, and at the time the defendant made and delivered the check he knew he did not have sufficient funds in, or credit with the Fruita State Bank, for the payment of the check in full on presentation (R. 1).

A few days prior to the issuance of the check in question, Mr. Coleman contacted Richard Perkins at Blanding, Utah, regarding the purchase of some cattle (R. Tr. 4). Mr. Coleman and Mr. Perkins agreed upon the purchase of 45 head, but did not complete the deal until Mr. Coleman made a phone call and then confirmed their arrangement later in the day (R. Tr. pp. 5-6, 23, 25, 26, 35) (See also charge for a long distance call made by the Fruita Bank March 6, 1964, def's. Exhibit No. 6).

As shown by the Affidavit of Robert Sawyer, Vice-President and cashier of the First National Bank, Durango, Colorado, Mr. Coleman called him long distance on March 2, 1964, to determine if a

check for \$5,8880.00 drawn by Mr. James Wright in the order of James Coleman would be available for payment. Mr. Sawyer informed Mr. Coleman the check would be good and it was in fact subsequently paid on March 5, 1964 (R. 20). See also the Affidavit of James Coleman to the same effect (R. 21).

After ascertaining that he would have money available to complete the transaction, Mr. Coleman made arrangement to take delivery of the animals and issued the check in question (Pltf's Exhibit No. 1, R. Tr. 7). The check was subsequently deposited by Mr. Perkins in his bank account in Blanding, Utah, (R. Tr. 31). It was presented to the Fruita State Bank, Fruita, Colorado, for payment on March 5 or 6th, 1964 (R. Tr. pp 54-55), but it was returned by the bank March 6, 1964, to Mr. Perkins for endorsement (R. Tr. P. 49). Mr. Coleman had deposited a check for collection in the Fruita State Bank on February 28, 1964, (Def's Exhibit No. 5). It was payable to Coleman and issued by one Charles Wright. It was drawn on a Durango bank (R. 20), and was paid by that bank March 5, 1964. Mr. Coleman opened an account with the Fruita State Bank, Fruita, Colorado, March 6, 1964, and deposited the Wright check in the Fruita Bank, for \$5,878.83 (\$5,880.00 less \$1.17 for a long distance phone call, Def's Exhibits Nos. 6 & 7, R. Tr. 43-44). Mr. Perkins added the endorsement to his check and re-deposited it. It was received by Fruita State Bank

a second time March 12, 1961 (R. Tr. p. 56). On this date, a balance of approximately \$2,500.00 remained in Mr. Coleman's account and the check was again returned, this time because there were inadequate funds to pay the full amount of the check (Pltf's Exhibit 3).

The jury was instructed on the law, arguments of counsel were made and the jury retired for deliberation at 5:35 p.m. At 8 o'clock p.m. the jury requested permission to confer with the Court concerning Instruction No. 4 (R. Tr. p. 67). The Court made certain explanations concerning the instruction which were assigned as error by defendant's counsel. Further reference will be made to the conduct of the Court in this regard in the argument. The jury again retired at 8:10 p.m. (R. Tr. p. 71) and returned with a verdict of guilty at 8:16 p.m. (R. Tr. p. 72).

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN EXPLAINING TO THE JURY, FOLLOWING THEIR RETIREMENT, THE MEANING OF INSTRUCTION NO. 4.

Prior to the jury's retirement for deliberation, the Court, among others, gave the following instruction:

"INSTRUCTION No. 4

Under the law of this State the making and delivering of a check to another, **knowing** at the time of such making and delivery that

the maker does not have sufficient funds in
credit with the bank upon which such check
is drawn for the payment of said check in
fact upon its presentation is prima facie evi-
dence of an intent on the part of the maker
to defraud. If, therefore, your minds are satis-
fied beyond a reasonable doubt that the de-
fendant on or about the 3rd day of March,
1964, within this county, made and delivered
to Richard Perkins a check of the description
set forth in Instruction No. 1, and are fur-
ther satisfied that at the time of the making
and delivery of such check the defendant knew
that he did not have funds on deposit with
the bank upon which the check was drawn or
credit with the said bank sufficient to pay
said check upon its presentation, you may then
find that in the drawing and delivery of said
check he had the intent to defraud, unless
from all the evidence in the case you enter-
tain a reasonable doubt as to whether he had
the intent to defraud at the time of making
and delivering such check."

Following approximately 2½ hours of deliber-
ation, the jury requested permission to confer with
the Court (R. Tr. p. 67), whereupon the following
dialogue between the Court and the jury occurred:

"JUROR: We wanted you to go over
Instruction No. 4 and explain it to us and give
us a chance for two questions.

THE COURT: Well, shall I take it sen-
tence by sentence?

JUROR: Right.

THE COURT: Under the law of this
State the making and delivery of a check to

another, knowing at the time of such presentation and delivery that the maker does not have sufficient funds in or credit with the bank upon which such check is drawn for the payment of said check in full upon its presentation is prima facie evidence of an intention on the part of the maker to defraud. Now, what is the word prima facie that bothers you?

JUROR: Presentation.

THE COURT: What?

JUROR: Presentation.

THE COURT: Presentation, that means when the check is delivered to the bank if he knows at the time. It is not presentation to the man, it is presentation to the bank when he gives the check to the payee he knows that he doesn't have money in the bank or credit with the bank to pay it when he gets there. If he knows that when he writes the check that he doesn't have, when he writes it that he doesn't have the money there or credit with the bank, that is prima facie evidence of fraud. Is there anything else you want to know about that question? Prima facie, I haven't given you the dictionary definition, but prima facie means that which is, may be assumed in the absence of any proof otherwise. That's what prima facie is. What the representation is without further proof, in other words. All right, now does that do you want to ask any other question about that?

JUROR: We would like to know if the date of presentation to the bank necessarily has to be the date that it was given to the payee, the date that it was written. I mean

must he have money in the bank the day that he writes the check or must —

THE COURT: *Yes, he must have money in the bank when he writes the check as an arrangement with the bank to pay it. When he writes the check. Otherwise, that is prima facie evidence of intent to defraud. Any other question? Now that is only on the question of prima facie evidence of intent to defraud. Other things may bear upon the intent. Now, if you want to taken a exception, either one of you, to what the Court has said.*" (R. Tr. pp. 68-69) (Emphasis added).

Paper exceptions were taken to the "explanation" given by the Court by defense counsel. The jury again retired for further deliberation at 8:10 a.m. (R. Tr. p. 71). The jury returned in six minutes with a verdict of "guilty" (R. Tr. p. 72) (R. p. 11).

From the foregoing, it seems obvious that the jury was uncertain what meaning should be attached to the term "presentation", as used in the Instruction. The explanation is contradictory. The jury was first advised that Coleman must have money or credit with the bank when the check arrives at the bank. The Court then advised them that such must be the case when he writes the check. Further, in response to a juror's question concerning the meaning of prima facie the Court did not properly define that term as it relates to the "short check" statute as set out in *State v. Prettyman*, 113 Utah 96, 191 P.2d 142 (1948), discussed *infra*. The explanation was the equivalent of instructing the jury

to return a guilty verdict. The Court erred in failing to advise the jury that even though funds were not on hand in the bank at the time the check was issued to Mr. Perkins, that if Mr. Coleman had a reasonable expectation that funds would be available to pay the check when it was presented at the bank, such would not constitute an offense under the statute.

The Utah Statute is as follows:

“76-20-11. Checks, drafts or orders drawn against insufficient funds — Evidence. — Any person who for himself or as the agent or representative of another or as an officer of a corporation, wilfully, with intent to defraud, makes or draws or utters or delivers any check, or draft or order upon any bank, depository, or person, or firm, or corporation, for the payment of money, knowing at the time of such making, drawing, uttering or delivering that the maker or drawer or the corporation has not sufficient funds in or credit with said bank or depository, or person, or firm, or corporation, for the payment of such checks, draft, or order, in full upon its presentation, although no express representation is made with reference thereto, is punishable by imprisonment in the county jail of not more than one year, or in the state prison for not more than five years.

The making, drawing, uttering, or delivering of such check, draft, or order as aforesaid shall be prima facie evidence of intent to defraud.

Where such check, draft, or order is protested, on the ground of insufficiency of funds or credit, the notice of protest thereof shall be admissible as proof of presentation, non-payment and protest and shall be presumptive evidence of insufficiency of funds or credit with such bank or depository, or person, or firm, or corporation.

The word "credit" as used herein shall be construed to mean an arrangement or understanding with the bank or depository, or person, or firm, or corporation, for the payment of such check, draft, or order."

The doctrine of "reasonable expectation" is a recognized defense under statutes similar to Utah, and, as will be noted later, has been impliedly accepted by this Court in *State v. Prettyman*, 113 Utah 36, 50, 191 P.2d 142 (1948). The pertinent language of the Penal Code of California, Section 476 (a) contains substantially the same language as the Utah statute and reads as follows:

"Any person who . . . with intent to defraud makes or draws or utters or delivers any check . . . upon any bank . . . for the payment of money knowing at the time of such making, drawing, uttering or delivering that the maker or drawer . . . has not sufficient funds in, or credit with said bank . . . for the payment of such check . . . in full upon presentation, although no express representation is made with reference thereto is punishable . . ."

In the California case of *People v. Becker*, 30 P.2d 562, it was held a "reasonable expectation of

payment" was a defense to a crime charged under that statute. In that case the defendant purchased a watch on Saturday and in payment therefor issued a check on a bank in which he had neither account nor funds. However, prior to issuing the check he had made arrangement with a third person to obtain money with which he intended to open an account in the bank on which the check was written, the following Monday morning. The defendant attempted to introduce the testimony of the third person to corroborate his testimony to this effect, but the prosecutor's objection was sustained as being immaterial. Conviction followed. Upon appeal the conviction was reversed and the matter remanded for a new trial.

In holding that a "reasonable expectation" of payment constituted a defense, the Court observed that the "intent to defraud" is an essential element of the crime, and is the "gist" of the offense. Since the offered testimony of the third party tended to establish the fact that funds would be available for payment of the check when it was presented to the bank in the ordinary course of business, it was error not to receive it. A "reasonable expectation of payment" is a defense to the charge.

In *People v. Griffith*, 262 P.2d 355, 359, the California Court affirmed the earlier decision. In that case it was stipulated that at the time the check in question was made and issued the defendant did

have sufficient funds or credits with the bank when it was drawn to make payment in full upon presentation. The defendant testified that he did not know the account was overdrawn when he made the check, because he did not keep accurate records regarding his account. The defendant was convicted. On appeal the judgment was reversed because there was insufficient evidence of intent to defraud. The following language is taken from the opinion:

"In negotiating a check, the maker does not necessarily represent that he then has the bank funds out of which it will be paid; but he only represents it is a good and valid order for its amount and that the existing state of facts is such that in the ordinary course of business it will be paid on presentation. One who negotiates a check with knowledge he has not sufficient funds in the bank to meet it, but who has good reason to believe, and honestly does believe, that it will be paid, cannot be said to have an intent to defraud the payee of the bank."

In a more recent California case, *People v. ...*, 327 P.2d 611, the Court again recognized the "reasonable expectation" rule.

The "reasonable expectation of payment" rule was also recognized in the Ninth Circuit Federal Court in the case of *Williams v. United States*, 278 F.2d 75 (C.C.A. 9th), where the defendant was accused of mail fraud for using the mail to transmit fictitious checks and was convicted. On appeal the court applied the reasonable expectation rule, but

found no error in the manner in which it was submitted to the jury. In defining the limits of the Court stated:

"The expectation of the defendant, however, must be more than mere hope. The circumstances must be such as to justify a reasonable certain belief that funds will be available."

See also 22 Am. Jur. False Pretenses, Sec. 6 p. 478.

The Utah Court has impliedly recognized an exception to what may appear to be mandatory language of the short check statute. The statute declares "the making . . . or delivering of a check (under the circumstances there defined) prima facie evidence of intent to defraud." However, this Court has given interpretation of the quoted language in previously decided cases, which was not referred to by the trial court. In *State v. Prettyman*, 22 Utah 36, 50, 191 P.2d 142 (1948), the defendant had written a check upon a Vernal Bank in which he did not have an account. However, there was testimony that he had made an arrangement with a party in Seattle, Washington, to "honor any drafts within reason." The defendant did not attempt to notify the third party of his need for money until after issuing the check. This Court in a split decision sustained a jury's guilty verdict for an offense charged under Section 108-18-11, U.C.A. 1943, the predecessor of the present statute. The following language is taken from the concurring opinion:

"Under Sec. 103-18-11, U.C.A. 1943, the

delivery of a check knowing that the maker has not sufficient funds or credit with the payee to pay the check in full upon presentation is made prima facie evidence of an intention to defraud. *The statute does not expressly make any exception to that rule, but I believe that the legislature intended it to only apply in the absence of other evidence which would explain those facts in such a manner that it would be unreasonable to hold that there was no reasonable doubt of such intention.* The defendant in a criminal case is presumed to be innocent until his guilt is established beyond a reasonable doubt. Certainly the courts did not intend to remove this safeguard. So if in the light of all the evidence, including the facts on which the prima facie evidence is based and the explanation thereof, it would be unreasonable to find that there is no reasonable doubt of defendant's guilt then notwithstanding this statute the court should direct a verdict in his favor. (Emphasis Added)

The explanation of the trial court in the instant case concerning the meaning of the statute, removed the safeguard referred to in the *Prettyman* decision. While the opinion does not specifically mention the "reasonable expectation of payment" rule, it is impliedly accepted in determining that the prima facie provision of the statute is to apply "only in the absence of other evidence which would explain . . . (the) facts in such a manner that it would be unreasonable to hold that there is no reasonable doubt of such intention (to defraud)."

The Court's statement to the jury that a prima

facie case of intent to defraud had been established against Mr. Coleman if they found that at the time he issued the check he did not have money in the bank or an arrangement with the bank to pay it. (R. Tr. 69), is prejudicial error, because it precluded the jury from considering the defendant's "reasonable expectation of payment". The jury was given no explanation whatever concerning it. The Affidavits of Mr. Sawyer, Vice President & Cashier of the First National Bank of Durango, Colorado, and of Mr. Coleman, affirm the fact that at the time the check was written, March 3, 1964, Mr. Coleman had a "reasonable expectation" of receiving sufficient funds to pay the check. In fact, Coleman had placed a check in the sum of \$5,880.00 issued to him by one Charles A. Wright in the Fruita State Bank for collection on February 28, 1964, four days before he issued the check to Perkins (Def's Ex. No. 5). A telephone call was made to ascertain if money would be available to him before he issued the check to Perkins (R. 20-21). The evidence is undisputed that he did in fact make a deposit of \$5,878.13 (Def's Ex. No. 6 & 7), the amount of the Wright check less \$1.17, the cost of a long distance phone call. This deposit was more than a thousand dollars in excess of the check issued to Perkins. No previous arrangement had been made for payment of the check.

It is significant that the jury had failed to

... gave a verdict in 21 1/2 hours of deliberations, but
... six minutes following the Court's "explanation"
... guilty verdict was returned. The Court erroneously
... instructed the jury on one of the vital issues of
... case concerning which they sought the further
... assistance of the Court. The Court's explanation
... was erroneous and contradictory. It was also con-
... fusing and resulted in misleading the jury.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION
IN FAILING TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT'S MO-
TION FOR A NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUND OF NEW-
LY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE.

Following trial, the defendant on his own be-
half prepared and filed a Motion for a New Trial
(R. Tr. 16). He assigned as error the failure of the
Court to properly direct the jury, that the verdict
was contrary to the evidence and newly discovered
evidence. The Court subsequently denied his Motion.

The Motion as it pertains to newly discovered
evidence, is based upon two Affidavits. The Affi-
davit of the defendant, James Coleman, states that
he did not appreciate the significance of Robert
Sawyer's testimony regarding his statement to the
defendant that funds would be available to him and
could not have done so prior to the trial and the evi-
dence introduced by the State. The affiant further
states that he could not with due diligence have re-
alized the importance of Sawyer's testimony in order

to have made arrangements to have him available for the trial (R. Tr. 21).

The Affidavit of Robert B. Sawyer, Vice President & Cashier of The First National Bank, Durango, Colorado, indicates that on March 2, 1964 (the day previous to issuance of the check in question), Mr. James Coleman called his bank long distance to determine if a check for \$5,880.00 drawn by Mr. Charles A. Wright would be available for payment. Mr. Sawyer advised him that the check would be good and it was subsequently paid on March 5, 1964.

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