1965

State of Utah v. James Coleman : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT
POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN REINSTRUCTING THE JURY SUBSEQUENT TO ITS RETIREMENT.

The appellant contends that the trial court committed prejudicial error in instructing the jury when, after the jury subsequent to starting its deliberations, returned to the court to request additional instructions (T. 67).¹ The foreman of the jury indicated the jury's desire to have Instruction No. 4 explained and to have certain questions concerning the instruction answered.

Instruction No. 4 (R. 10) required the jury to find *beyond a reasonable doubt* that at the time of the making and delivery of the check from the appellant to Perkin, the appellant had an intent to defraud, and passed the check knowing that at the time there was not sufficient funds or credit in the drawee bank for payment upon the check's presentation. The jury was expressly advised that the issuance of a check against insufficient funds was *prima facie* evidence of an intent to defraud "unless from all the evidence in the case [the jury entertained] a reasonable doubt as to whether [the defendant] had the intent to defraud at the time of making and delivering such check."

The court, upon return of the jury, instructed them concerning Instruction No. 4 and asked the jury if the

¹The respondent has no information as to how the pen marks appearing in the record came to be there, and respectfully submits that the court should disregard any inference that might have been intended by such markings.

"prima facie" bothered them (T. 68). The foreman of the jury indicated that they did not, but that the present issue was the question. The court then carefully instructed the jury that presentation meant presentation to the bank, not to the payee, and that when the defendant presented the check to the payee, he must know that he doesn't have the money in the bank sufficient to pay the check upon its presentation to the bank (T. 68). Further, the court explained to the jury what prima facie means, indicating that it means only that the evidence creates a reasonable inference in the absence of proof to the contrary (T. 69). Finally, the court instructed the jury that evidence of lack of funds at the time the check is written raises a prima facie inference of an intent to defraud (T. 69).

Instruction No. 15, originally given by the court, admonished the jury to weigh the evidence fully in light of all the facts presented. Instruction No. 13 advised the jury that they had a right to consider "all the circumstances surrounding the occurrences referred to" in the case. Instruction No. 11 carefully advised the jury as to the meaning of reasonable doubt and the necessity of finding the accused's guilt beyond all reasonable doubt. The court also instructed on the presumption of innocence (Instruction No. 10) and specifically on the requirement of an intent to defraud (Instruction No. 3). The jury was also instructed that the State bore the burden of proving all the elements of the offense (Instruction No. 2).

At the time of the reinstruction to the jury, the only objection taken was that the court's reference to prima

facie, in the absence of an explanation that the same could be considered, was error (T. 71). Finally, it may be noted that the court read the statute governing the offense to the jury, apparently without objection (T. 70).

At the time of the appellant's motion for a new trial Judge Keller entered a Memorandum Decision in which he explained the basis of his instructions and why a new trial should be denied on a claim of instructional error (R. 25-3). Judge Keller wrote:

"Without detailing the evidence respecting the account of the defendant with the Fruita State Bank upon which the check resulting in the charge in this case was drawn, it was disclosed in the evidence that at the time the check was first presented for payment the defendant had drawn other checks upon the same account which, together with the check upon which the charge is based, would have overdrawn the account by some two thousand dollars. It would seem to me that one may safely assume that this evidence was taken into account by the jury on the question of his intent at the time he drew the check. * * *

It is submitted that, taking the instructions as a whole the jury could not have been misled and no error was committed. It is well settled in this State that in considering whether the trial court has committed error in instructions to the jury the instructions given should be considered as a whole. See *State v. McCoy*, 15 Utah 136, 49 Pac. 42 (1897); *State v. Hendricks*, 123 Utah 267, 258 P. 2d 412; *State v. Evans*, 107 Utah 1, 151 P. 2d 196. In *State v. Snowdown*, 61 Utah 189, 211 Pac. 968 (1922), this court noted

“ * * * When instructions as a whole fairly present the law, clearly present the issues involved, and contain no harmful or prejudicial errors, the verdict in a criminal case must stand. The statute that provides that technical errors in criminal cases shall be disregarded is mandatory, and, unless upon a review of all the evidence we are satisfied that a miscarriage of justice has resulted, we have no right to interfere with the jury’s verdict. * * *”

It is submitted that when the instructions in the instant case are so viewed it cannot be claimed that the jury was misled.

It is well settled that references to burden of proof or the effect of prima facie evidence are not rendered prejudicial where other instructions make it clear that the jury is to consider all the facts and circumstances in the case. See 23A, C. J. S., *Criminal Law*, Sec. 1323, pp. 819-22. In *State v. Sawyer*, 54 U. 276, 182 P. 206 (1919), the appellant complained that an instruction on larceny phrased in the language of the statute on recent possession being prima facie evidence of guilt was error. This court rejected that contention, but noted that when the instructions given by the court were viewed as a whole, it was clear that the jury was given sufficient latitude to consider all the facts and circumstances in determining the appellant’s guilt. In *State v. Donovan*, 77 U. 343, 294 P. 1108 (1931), an instruction similar to that given in the *Sawyer* case, relating to prima facie evidence of guilt, was claimed as error on appeal. The court stated:

“ * * * While the instruction in question stated that the unexplained possession of recently

stolen property was prima facie evidence of the statement was materially qualified. It is computed, by the further charge that such prima facie evidence did not relieve the state from proving defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, that such possession, even though unexplained, is alone sufficient to warrant a conviction, and such possession might be taken into consideration with other circumstances, etc."

A similar result was reached by this court in *State v. ...* 105 U. 162, 145 P. 2d 494 (1944). The court in that case made it clear that where the jury is otherwise instructed as to the necessity of considering all the elements of the crime as against all the evidence presented, a reference to the term "prima facie" is not prejudicial.

It seems to be settled law in this State that where a trial court, as in the instant case, instructs the jury on the necessity of considering all the evidence, and where the instructions when taken as a whole make it clear that the court has not deprived the jury of considering relevant evidence in determining the accused's guilt, prejudicial error would not be found.

The appellant argues that the instructions as given by the court, in effect, deprived him of the defense of reasonable expectation of payment. It should be noted that the appellant made no request for such an instruction neither at the time of the original instructions to the jury nor at the time of reinstruction to the jury. It is apparent that the appellant's defense at the time of trial was based upon a claimed lack of intent to defraud. The reasonable expectation theory is only one means of challenging the

to defraud. See 22 Am. Jur., *False Pretenses*, Sec. 66. Since the appellant did not request an instruction on the issue of reasonable expectation of payment, but relied upon the facts to vitiate the State's contention of an intent to defraud, the argument now raised on appeal is extraneous to the posture of the case at the time of trial. The basis for the appellant's claim of prejudice would be that the trial court's instruction had somehow advised the jury that the element of intent to defraud was no longer a matter upon which reasonable men could differ. It is evident that the jury was not confused on that issue, since the questions were directed only to the issue of present-

It is apparent that the presentation issue was foremost in the jury's mind in determining whether the appellant had the requisite intent to defraud. It is well settled that an appellant cannot seek to avoid his conviction by claiming that at the time the check was written, he had sufficient money in the bank to cover it, if at the same time there were outstanding additional checks in excess of his bank balance. 22 Am. Jur., *False Pretenses*, Sec. 66, states:

"* * * According to some authority, a statute making it criminal for a person, with intent to defraud, to draw or deliver to another a check on a bank, knowing at the time that he has not sufficient funds in, or credit with, the bank to meet the check, is violated by the giving of a check with money in the bank in excess of its amount, where the drawer has previously directed the bank to stop payment on all checks of a class including the check in question.

* * *

See also *Prince v. State*, 93 Texas Criminal 296, 297 S. W. 863 (1923); *Huffman v. State*, 185 N. E. 131 (Indiana, 1933), where the courts sustained convictions in fact situations similar to that in the instant case.

When the instructions are examined as a whole, it is apparent that appellant has no basis on which to claim error before this court. Further, it appears that the appellant is arguing a different theory of defense on appeal than that presented at the time of trial.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL, SINCE:

- A. THE MOTION WAS NOT TIMELY PRESENTED.
- B. THE NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE WAS READILY AVAILABLE AND COULD HAVE BEEN PRESENTED AT TRIAL HAD DUE DILIGENCE BEEN EXERCISED.

Appellant contends that the trial court committed error in refusing to grant a motion for a new trial. There is no merit to this contention.

A. The record reflects that the jury's guilty verdict to the information as charged was returned on December 10, 1964. The appellant filed his own motion for a new trial on December 15, 1964 (R. 16). The motion requested a new trial on two grounds, one of which was newly discovered

and evidence. On January 19, 1965, the court entered its judgment sentencing the appellant to the Utah State Prison, but stayed execution of the judgment until February 16, 1965. On February 16, 1965, the court heard the matter upon a motion for a new trial. The court denied the motion for a new trial (R. 23). On March 16, 1965, the court denied the same motion for a new trial having taken the matter up for reconsideration at the request of new counsel (R. 24). Affidavits in support of the motion for a new trial were not filed until March 16, 1965 (R. 20, 21).

Section 77-38-3(7), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, allows the court to grant a motion for a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence material to the defendant's case which could not have been discovered and produced at trial with reasonable diligence. In the instant case, the motion was timely filed by the appellant within five days after the verdict, as required by Section 77-38-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. However, affidavits were not presented until March 16, 1965. Section 77-38-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, requires that affidavits be produced at the hearing in support of a motion for a new trial. Section 77-38-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, requires that the affidavits be served and filed within 30 days after the filing of the notice of motion. This was not done in the instant case. The court denied the motion for a new trial on February 16, 1965. The court was well within legitimate bounds in denying the motion because of the failure of the appellant to serve affidavits within the statutory period.

Having denied the motion on the 16th day of February, 1965, the court was thereafter without jurisdiction

to reconsider the matter or to grant appellant a second motion for new trial. In *State v. Cano*, 64 U. 388, 291 P. 2d 111, this court ruled that a second motion for a new trial, filed months after the time for filing the motion for a new trial has expired was properly denied. The motion in the instant case, having been denied on February 16, 1965, could not be renewed by petition for reconsideration to be heard at a substantial time thereafter. The court's Memorandum Decision (R. 25) reflects that counsel for the appellant had ample notice of the hearing on the motion for new trial on February 16, 1965. The trial court in that Memorandum Decision doubted its power to reconsider the motion after having denied it and, thus, recognized the rule in the *Cano* case and the statement in *State v. White*, 107 U. 84, 132 P. 2d 80, where this court observed that a "second motion for a new trial was not timely made and the trial court was without jurisdiction to entertain it."

Based upon the above procedural irregularities, the court submitted the trial court properly rejected the motion for a new trial.

B. Appellant claims that the evidence alleged to have been newly discovered required the granting of a new trial. It is well settled that a motion for a new trial rests primarily in the sound discretion of the trial court. See *State v. Montgomery*, 37 U. 515, 109 P. 815 (1910). The trial court has had the opportunity to view the witnesses and appraise the evidence at first hand and, therefore, is in a much better position to determine whether the newly discovered

evidence is, in fact, newly discovered, and whether it would have had a substantial effect on the jury's verdict.

In the instant case, it is submitted that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. The evidence which was said to be newly discovered was a phone call made by the appellant to Mr. Robert Sawyer of the First National Bank of Durango, Colorado, to determine whether or not the check for \$5,880, which was received by the appellant and deposited in the Bank of Fruita, Colorado, would be good (R. 20). There is no question but that this evidence was readily available at the time of trial. It is acknowledged in the affidavit of the appellant that he related the evidence of the conversation to his counsel prior to trial (R. 21). Certainly the appellant, who made the phone call, was well aware of having made the same and the contents thereof. Under these circumstances, it is apparent that this evidence is not newly discovered so as to warrant the granting of a new trial. In *State v. Weaver*, 78 U. 555, 6 P. 2d 167 (1931), this court noted:

"Newly discovered evidence, to be ground for a new trial, must satisfy several elementary requirements. The courts are not in accord respecting all these requirements, but fairly agree that the newly discovered evidence be such as could not with reasonable diligence have been discovered and produced at the trial, that it be not merely cumulative, and that it be such as to render a different result probable on the retrial of the case."

In *State v. Moore*, 41 U. 247 (1912), this court denied the appellant's claim that a new trial should have been granted based upon newly discovered evidence where it

was clear that the evidence could have been ascertained at the time of trial with reasonable diligence.

In *State v. Martinez*, 15 U. 2d 303, 392 P. 2d 39 (1964), this court, in denying that the trial court erred in failing to grant a new trial, observed:

“There was no showing of newly discovered evidence on the question of insanity, which requires a new trial. The evidence shows that the alienist now relied on for such evidence as to his sanity was the same one who was investigating defendant's sanity for the defendant's previous attorney, and there is no showing that the alienist made any new discoveries after the trial. * * *

Finally, it is submitted that the claimed newly discovered evidence could have no effect upon the jury's verdict. The jury was well aware of the fact that there was a deposit the sum of \$5,800 in the Fruita State Bank to the credit of the appellant at the time the check was first presented. The theory of the prosecution was that the defendant's intent to defraud was shown by the many outstanding checks in excess of the amount on deposit, and that the deposit, when viewed in the light of the claims against it, was merely a ruse to cull subsequent persons inquiring into the matter into the belief that the appellant's motives were negligent, though honest. The evidence which the appellant claims to have been newly discovered would have added nothing to the posture of the case as it was submitted to the jury.

The trial court itself in its Memorandum Decision (R. 25) noted the fact that the evidence was hardly newly dis-

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